STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Greenville County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

---

RUBEN RAMIREZ,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-208626

---

AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. The PCR judge erred in finding no error in trial counsel's failure to secure an independent mental competency evaluation for petitioner. In addition, the PCR judge erred in denying PCR counsel's request to leave the record open to submit proof of petitioner's mental incompetency to stand trial/plead guilty, which was available for review before the close of his PCR action; and the PCR judge erred in denying PCR counsel's Rule 59(e) motion requesting review of proof of petitioner's mental incompetency and the issuance of an amended order in recognition of the same.
2. The PCR judge ruled properly in granting petitioner's request for a belated direct appeal of his guilty but mentally ill pleas, which were unconstitutional pleas obtained in violation of due process.

## STATEMENT

Petitioner Ruben Ramirez pled guilty but mentally ill to assault and battery with intent to kill, kidnapping, first degree burglary, first degree criminal sexual conduct, and lewd act upon a child during the November 2008 term of the Greenville County General Sessions Court before Judge Edward Miller. Petitioner received concurrent twenty-year prison sentences for all of his convictions, save his lewd act conviction for which Judge Miller imposed a consecutive fifteen-year sentence, suspended upon five years probation. App. 1-25. Petitioner did not enjoy the benefit of a direct appeal in the case. Monti Desai represented petitioner at the plea proceeding.

On November 2, 2009, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Greenville Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 27-34. The respondent filed a return dated April 7, 2010, requesting that a hearing be held in response to petitioner's PCR action. App. 35-38. A PCR hearing was convened on May 9, 2011, at the Greenville County Courthouse before Judge G. Edward Welmaker. App. 40-81. Petitioner did not appear at the PCR hearing, but was represented at that hearing by Matt Kappel.

On May 23, 2011, PCR counsel filed a motion to hold the record open to allow a new competency evaluation. Supp App. 1-3. On July 27, 2011, Judge Welmaker issued an order of dismissal therein denying petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the case. App. 114-121. On August 11, 2011, PCR counsel filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion in the case. App. 122-126. Thereafter, the respondent filed a return to the Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion. App. 128-130. On November 22, 2011, Judge Welmaker issued an order denying the Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion, but granted petitioner's request for a belated direct appeal. App. 132-133.

Petitioner appealed Judge Welmaker's Orders, and per this Court's Orders dated June 25, 2014, and April 15, 2015, respectively, this amended brief of petitioner follows.

## QUESTION I

The PCR judge erred in finding no error in trial counsel's failure to secure an independent mental competency evaluation for petitioner. In addition, the PCR judge erred in denying PCR counsel's request to leave the record open to submit proof of petitioner's mental incompetency to stand trial/plead guilty, which was available for review before the close of his PCR action; and the PCR judge erred denying PCR counsel's Rule 59(e) motion requesting review of proof of petitioner's mental incompetency proof and the issuance of an amended order reflecting in recognition of the same.

Petitioner pled guilty but mentally ill to assault and battery with intent to kill, kidnapping, first degree burglary, first degree criminal sexual conduct, and lewd act upon a child. The solicitor summarized the facts of the case at the plea proceeding. According to the state's version of the case, petitioner knocked on the door of the prosecutrix's residence, forced his way through the door when it was opened, took the prosecutrix to the woods nearby, beat her, took off her underwear, rubbed his penis on her vagina, and touched her breasts. App. 12, l. 18 – p. 14, l. 9.

Petitioner received a state mental evaluation from a state doctor and an independent psychological evaluation scheduled by trial counsel. The state's forensic psychiatrist found that petitioner was competent to stand trial. App. 83-85. Subsequently, at the behest of trial counsel, an independent psychological examination was conducted by Stephen M. Gedo, Jr., PH.D, who found that petitioner had no psychosis, but suffered from severe mental retardation, intellectual impairment, ADHD, and possessed the intellectual functioning of a 4-to-7-year old child. App. 86-90. However, Gedo failed to make a finding regarding petitioner's competency to stand trial. Trial counsel did not request an independent competency finding.

Petitioner was not present at the PCR hearing, but petitioner's trial counsel was present at the PCR hearing and testified during the hearing. The chief issue raised at the PCR hearing was whether counsel erred in failing to have an independent re-evaluation performed on petitioner solely on the question of whether he was mentally competent to stand trial. The independent examination of petitioner that was arranged by trial counsel was limited to a psychological/mental illness examination. Gedo made no independent finding as to whether petitioner was mentally competent to stand trial. Trial counsel in effect admitted that he erred in failing to have petitioner examined independently and solely on the question of mental competency in order to have challenged the state's medical doctor's finding that he (petitioner) was mentally competent to stand trial. App. 47, lines 6-15; App. 50, lines 1-8; App. 55, l. 18-p. 57, l. 7. Counsel admitted his error as follows:

PCR Counsel: Now, once again, having looked at Dr. Gedo's report, looking at the DSM, looking at his IQ, looking at his global assessment and then revisiting the competency exam, would it not seem to be prudent to have potentially reevaluated his competency?

Trial Counsel: I think you can say that.

PCR Counsel: The question is would you say that?

Trial Counsel: Uh, probably.

App. 65, l. 21-p. 66, l. 3.

At the close of the PCR hearing held on May 9, 2011, PCR counsel implored the PCR judge to hold the record open to obtain an independent competency evaluation of petitioner (App. 74, l. 25 - p. 81, l. 7), which trial counsel failed to do, but the PCR judge denied PCR counsel's request.

Then, 14 days later on May 23, 2011, PCR counsel filed a motion to hold the record open in order to obtain a mental competency evaluation of petitioner (Supp App 1-3), which had already been scheduled to take place on May 31, 2011, but the PCR judge denied the motion to hold the

open the record.<sup>1</sup> App. 132-133. Nonetheless, an independent mental competency evaluation was conducted on May 31, 2011, and according to the Rule 59(e) motion (See Supp App.), a copy of the May 31, 2011 evaluation results, which found petitioner mentally incompetent in 2008 when the plea was taken and in 2011, were available on June 10, 2011, for the PCR judge's perusal. Unfortunately however, on July 27, 2011, the PCR judge signed an order of dismissal (written) sans a review of the results of the May 31, 2011 mental evaluation report available on June 10, 2011, and found that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to have secured an independent mental competency evaluation of petitioner in the case. App. 116-118.

In response to the order of dismissal filed by the PCR judge, PCR counsel filed a timely Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion on August 11, 2011, revealing that on May 31, 2011, which was 22 days after the PCR hearing was held, and 8 days after the motion to hold the record open was filed, and 57 days before the PCR judge signed the order of dismissal in the case, petitioner was

---

<sup>1</sup> The Motion to Hold the Record Open and Allow Submission of a New Competency Evaluation was denied by the PCR judge in the order of dismissal signed on July 27, 2011, based on the following rationale: Two (2) weeks after the PCR hearing in this case (and while the matter was still under advisement), counsel for the Applicant filed a Motion to Hold the Record Open and Allow Submission of a New Competency Evaluation. That Motion is denied. A full PCR hearing was held on any and all issues the Applicant wished to litigate. The Applicant was notified of the date of the PCR hearing approximately one (1) month in advance and was on notice to present any and all pertinent evidence to this Court during this hearing. Given that the PCR hearing took place eighteen (18) months after the PCR application was filed, there was ample time for evidence to be obtained for submission at that hearing. As such, allowing the record to remain open for the submission of a competency evaluation, especially since this issue was known to the Applicant and was, in fact, the sole issue argued at the hearing-would give the Applicant a second opportunity to marshal facts and evidence to support his position. This Court finds this would be [not one as granted but] a second "bite at the apple" and contrary to the position expressed by the South Carolina Supreme Court. See, e.g., Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 523 S.E. 2d 753 (1999). App. 114-120.

independently evaluated for mental competency by Dr. Thomas Martin, who subsequently diagnosed petitioner as mentally incompetent in 2008 and 2011. Note that the Dr. Martin's evaluation and his results were submitted before the close of the PCR action in petitioner's case and could have been reviewed by the PCR judge before the July 27, 2011 order of dismissal was signed in the case. Dr. Martin's report included the following findings:

Dr. Martin issued his report on June 10, 2011 and concluded that the Plaintiff is not competent to stand trial today and would not have been competent to stand trial on November 3, 2008. In essence, the Dr. Martin stated that the Plaintiff suffers from "severe mental retardation with coexistence maladaptive social and language skills." These disabilities would have been equal present in the Plaintiff at the time of the incident as well as Plaintiff's court date in 2008 because there is "no medical or psychiatric treatment for severe mental retardation." Dr. Martin further concluded that "in light of [Ruben's] history and current presentation it remains unclear...how [he] was ever found 'competent to stand trial.'"

App. 124, paragraph 6; Supp. App. 4-7.

Despite the findings of petitioner's mental incompetency by Dr. Martin, which were represented in the Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion filed on August 11, 2011, the PCR judge ruled by order dated November 22, 2011, (App. 132-133), that the order of dismissal signed on July 27, 2011, would not be amended and that the PCR case would not be re-opened to determine what bearing Dr. Martin's evaluation and his findings of petitioner's mental incompetency had on the case. App. 132-133.

A.) The PCR Judge's "One Bite at the Apple" Justification

In the order of dismissal issued in the case, the PCR judge justified his refusal to entertain petitioner's independent mental competency evaluation results secured within the boundaries of his PCR action on the ground that "the PCR hearing took place 18 months after the PCR application

was filed and there was ample time for evidence to [have been] obtained for submission of [the PCR] hearing” and that any consideration of petitioner’s independent competency results would be tantamount to allowing petitioner “a second bite at the apple.” App. 120. Again, according to PCR counsel’s Rule 59(e) motion, the independent competency results were submitted to the PCR judge on June 10, 2011, (See Supp. App.), which occurred well before the PCR judge signed the order of dismissal on July 27, 2011, denying relief to petitioner.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, the “one bite at the apple” rule applies to successive PCR actions. Here, petitioner had only one PCR action filed and pending. None other. In Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 523 S.E.2d 753 (1999), the Court explains the “one bite at the apple” rule as follows.

All applicants are entitled to a full and fair opportunity to present claims in one PCR application. Successive PCR applications and appeals are generally disfavored because they allow an applicant to receive more than “one bite at the apple as it were.” *Matthews v. Evatt*, 105 F.3d 907, 916 (1997)(quoting *Gamble v. State*, 298 S.C. 176, 379 S.E.2d 118, 119 (1989)). A successive PCR application is one that raises grounds not raised in a prior application, raises grounds previously heard and determined, or raises grounds waived in prior proceedings. *Carter v. State*, 293 S.C. 528, 362 S.E.2d 20 (1987); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90 (1976 and Supp. 1997). In order to be entitled to a successive PCR application, the applicant must establish that the grounds raised in the subsequent application could not have been raised in a previous application. *Tilley v. State*, 334 S.C. 24, 511 S.E.2d 689 (1999). Additionally, successive PCR applications are.

In the case at bar, petitioner did not file a separate or successive PCR action. Rather, petitioner requested leave to submit the results of the independent mental competency evaluation

---

<sup>2</sup> In the Rule 59(e) motion, PCR counsel noted that June 10, 2011, was the date on which the independent mental competency evaluation was summarized by Dr. Martin; however, August 20, 2011, appears as the date on which Dr. Martin signed off on the independent mental competency evaluation results.

within the parameters of his pending PCR action, either on June 10, 2011, before the order of dismissal was issued, or after August 11, 2011, via his Rule 59(e) motion, which was before the PCR judge issued the order dated November 22, 2011, denying the Rule 59(e) motion that requested a review of the independent mental competency evaluation results proving petitioner's mental incompetence and the issuance of an amended order reflecting the findings from the independent mental competency evaluation. To the contrary and for the sake of judicial economy, the PCR judge should have entertained petitioner's independent mental competency evaluation results.

B.)The PCR Judge's Denial of the Motion to Hold the PCR Record Open

The PCR hearing in this case was held on May 9, 2011. On May 23, 2011, PCR counsel filed a Motion to "Hold The Record Open And Allow Submission of a New Competency Evaluation." The independent mental competency evaluation was conducted on May 31, 2011, and the results were obtained on June 10, 2011, (and signed off by Dr. Martin on August 10, 2011), but the PCR judge signed the order of dismissal on July 27, 2011, without entertaining the independent mental competency evaluation results, which were obtained and available before the close of the PCR action. On August 11, 2011, PCR counsel filed a Rule 59(e) motion to amend the order of dismissal and grant PCR relief in light of the independent mental competency evaluation findings that petitioner was mentally incompetent in 2008 and 2011. In the order of dismissal, the PCR judge ruled that the motion to hold the record was denied because petitioner had "ample time for evidence to be obtained for submission at [the PCR] hearing." App. 120.

Our Court has addressed the issue of when to grant a request to leave a record open. This issue arose in the case of Trotter v. Trane Coil Factory, 393 S.C. 637, 714 S.E.2d 289 (2011), where the Court held that the trial judge did not err in denying the employer's "requests for continuance and to leave the record open" as the trial judge had previously granted two prior requests to leave

the record open, and because the information sought to supplement the record would not have been forthcoming quickly, which meant the record would have been open probably indefinitely therein causing undue delay in the case. In the case at bar, no prior grants to hold the record open were ever given; and also, holding the record open in petitioner's case would not have caused any undue delay in his PCR action because the motion to leave the record open was for an evaluation that had already been scheduled and concluded before the PCR judge signed the order of dismissal.

Furthermore, petitioner's request to hold the PCR record open was tantamount to a motion for a continuance. The granting or denial of a motion for a continuance is within the second discretion of the trial judge whose ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the appellant. State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451, 385 S.C. 2d 827 (1989) citing to State v. Dingle, 279 S.C. 278, 306 S.E.2d 223 (1983). The Babb Court cited to State v. Motley, 251 S.C. 568, 164 S.E.2d 569 (1968), for further clarification on this issue as follows:

When a motion for a continuance is based upon the contention that counsel for the defendant has not has time to prepare his case its denial by the trial court has rarely been disturbed on appeal. It is axiomatic that determination of such motions must depend upon the particular facts and circumstances of each case. 385 S.E.2d at 829.

In Babb, the state levied forgery charges against the defendant, who pled not guilty; and at trial, counsel requested a continuance to obtain a handwriting expert to testify, but the motion was denied. The Babb Court found no abuse of discretion in the trial judge's denial of the continuance motion because the defendant in that case acted in a very frivolous manner regarding his legal representation (first he desire no counsel and then sought representation by private counsel and then by a public defender) and that the passage of time during that process meant that he sacrificed his

own defense, which in turn meant that the failure to prepare for trial with respect to securing an expert was “the result of [the defendant’s] failure to act.”

Nonetheless, the facts and circumstances of petitioner’s case are different here to the extent that petitioner was proactive in painstakingly and diligently investigating and perfecting the sole issue raised at PCR, i.e., petitioner’s mental competency, within the parameters of the PCR action. For example, fourteen days after the PCR hearing was held, PCR counsel moved on May 23, 2011, to hold the record open in order to obtain an independent mental competency evaluation; which had already been scheduled (to occur on May 31, 2011), at the time of the filing of that motion. Then, the independent mental competency evaluation was conducted and the results were produced on paper on June 10, 2011, and submitted to the PCR judge prior to the signing of the order of dismissal. Note that after the June 10, 2011 results were produced, counsel filed an additional motion on June 20, 2011, repeating again the motion to hold the record open to review the independent mental competency evaluation results. App. 124. There was no failure to act in petitioner’s case.

Therefore, under the facts and circumstances of petitioner’s case, PCR counsel’s motion to hold the record open, which was tantamount to a motion for a continuance should have been granted. There was no request for a new PCR hearing, but rather the option of holding the record open to review supplemental information within the boundaries of the PCR action. Also, there was no prejudice to the state because petitioner’s mental competency was the sole issue raised at PCR so there was no element of surprise or inability to respond by the state, particularly where petitioner had previously been examined for competency by a state doctor. Clearly, the PCR judge erred in denying counsel’s request to hold the record open to review relevant and material information regarding petitioner’s mental competency, which was the sole issue presented at PCR.

C.) The PCR Judge's Order Denying Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion

After the PCR judge signed the order of dismissal on July 27, 2011, PCR counsel filed a Rule 59(e) motion requesting that the PCR judge consider the independent competency evaluation results that proved petitioner was mentally incompetent in 2008 and 2011 and amend the order of dismissal to reflect an accurate ruling in light of the finding of petitioner's mental incompetency, and also to find trial counsel ineffective in failing to uncover this before the plea proceeding.

Due process prohibits the conviction of a person who is mentally incompetent and this right cannot be waived by a guilty plea. Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 417 S.E.2d 594 (1992), citing to Bishop v. United States, 350 U.S. 961 (1956). See also Matthews v. State, 358 S.C. 456, 596 S.E.2d 49 (2004); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966). Also, the test of competency to enter a plea is the same as required to stand trial, which is the accused must have sufficient capability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and have a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him. Jeter v. State, supra; Matthews v. State, supra. In this case, petitioner presented evidence subsequent to the PCR hearing by Dr. Martin establishing that petitioner was mentally incompetent at the time he entered his guilty plea.

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