STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Guilty Plea Judge
The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-208626

Ruben Ramirez

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina

Respondent.

SECOND BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN R. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEY'S FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner did not present any evidence – in the form of either expert testimony or a new competency evaluation – to corroborate his claim that plea counsel was deficient in failing to obtain a second competency evaluation. Petitioner, in fact, did not raise the

issue of obtaining a new evaluation in this case until after the parties had rested and counsel for Respondent argued Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof without having presented such an evaluation at the PCR hearing. (App.pp.73-75). The PCR judge took the case under advisement.

C.

On May 23, 2011 – two weeks after the conclusion of the PCR hearing – Petitioner filed a Motion to Hold the Record Open and Allow Submission of a New Competency Evaluation.” (Supp.App.pp.1-3). Petitioner admitted (1) the “only ground for post conviction relief was that the competency evaluation conducted by Dr. Dalal was defective” and (2) there had never been an additional competency evaluation. Petitioner argued the PCR judge should keep the matter under advisement until a new competency hearing could be completed. (Supp.App.pp.2). Respondent countered the motion should be denied because Petitioner should have known well before the PCR hearing that he could not meet his burden of proof without a second competency evaluation. Respondent argued Petitioner should not be allowed more than one bite at the apple. (App.pp.129-30). The PCR judge addressed his denial of this motion in a separate section of the order of dismissal filed August 1, 2011. (App.pp.114-21).

On August 11, 2011, Petitioner filed a “Motion to Reconsider, Open, Alter or Amend SCRCF 59(a), 59(e).” (App.pp.122-27). Attached to this Motion were an affidavit and report from Thomas Martin, M.D. that were prepared after he conducted an evaluation of Petitioner on May 31, 2011. (Supp.App.pp.5-10). Respondent submitted a return in opposition arguing the record in this matter was closed and that Petitioner

should have been prepared to present this evidence at the PCR hearing. The PCR judge denied the motion. (App.pp.132-33).

D.

The PCR judge did not err in denying Petitioner's "Motion to Reconsider, Open, Alter or Amend SCRCP 59(a), 59(e)."⁴ "The decision whether to reopen a record for additional evidence is within the trial court's sound discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion." Brenco v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 377 S.C. 124, 127, 659 S.E.2d 167, 169 (2008). There can be no abuse of discretion in declining to reopen the record in this case because Petitioner could have provided a second competency evaluation at the PCR hearing. See Spinx Oil Co., Inc. v. Fed. Mut. Ins. Co., 310 S.C. 477, 482, 427 S.E.2d 649, 651 (1993), overruled on other grounds, Joe Harden Builders, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co., 326 S.C. 231, 486 S.E.2d 89 (1997).

A PCR applicant is given "one bite at the apple" in the PCR setting, and the PCR hearing is the venue for all evidence and arguments to be made to the court. See Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 261, 523 S.E.2d 753, 755 (1999) ("[A]n applicant is entitled to a full adjudication on the merits of the original petition, or 'one bite at the apple.'"). Petitioner, therefore, should have been prepared to present all evidence and testimony at the scheduled PCR hearing. Petitioner's counsel filed the PCR application on November 2, 2009 and the PCR hearing was held on May 9, 2011. Petitioner's counsel had more than 18 months to fully investigate his claims and present them to the PCR court. If he needed

⁴ Though Petitioner's post-trial motion also requested the PCR judge grant a new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a), SCRCP or reopen the record, as Petitioner only addresses the Rule 59(e) aspect of the Motion in his petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent will not address these other grounds.

additional time for an evaluation or to have an expert witness available to testify, he should have requested a continuance at the start of trial. He failed to do so. Cf. Bayle v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742-43 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding the issue of whether the trial judge erred in granting the defendant's motion to quash further discovery was unpreserved because plaintiff's counsel failed to (1) argue the necessity for additional discovery until after summary judgment was granted and (2) move for a continuance to conduct further discovery). Rather, Petitioner's counsel declared they would proceed solely upon "the psychological evaluations." As such, Petitioner should have been prepared to present all evidence and testimony related to this issue.

The sole issue raised at the PCR hearing was whether plea counsel should have requested a second competency evaluation. Petitioner had the burden of proving – under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984) – both that plea counsel should have requested a second competency evaluation and that the lack of such prejudiced his case. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence."); see also Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. As such, Petitioner was on notice that he would have to present a second competency evaluation at trial in order to sustain his claim that plea counsel should have requested this evaluation before Applicant pled guilty. See, e.g., Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 370, 610 S.E.2d 812, 815 (2005) (finding that, as the applicant failed to have an expert testify at the evidentiary hearing, "any finding of prejudice is merely speculative"); cf. Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513,

511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (holding that, since the contents of challenged documents were not presented at the PCR hearing, the Applicant could not demonstrate how the failure of counsel to obtain these documents prejudiced the defense).

Post-conviction relief is governed by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. See Rule 71.1(a), SCRPC. This case, therefore, should not be treated differently than any other civil case. Petitioner is arguing he should be allowed to supplement his case with additional facts and an expert witness after the close of both his case and the trial itself. This would be comparable to a plaintiff in a negligence action filing suit in a slip-and-fall case, going to trial and presenting his case, resting his case, and then – after the defendant rested its case and realizing he presented no evidence about the injuries sustained in the slip-and-fall – asking for a second chance to meet his burden of proof with expert testimony. Such a scenario would be outrageous and contrary to the spirit of the law. The issue Petitioner hoped to bolster with Dr. Martin’s report was not an issue developed during the course of the PCR hearing – it was the only issue argued at the hearing. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner’s “Motion to Reconsider, Open, Alter or Amend SCRPC 59(a), 59(e)” was unsupportable under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

The proper use of a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion is to preserve issues that were raised to – but not ruled upon – by the trial court. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 77, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998). The purpose of Petitioner’s Rule 59(e) motion, however, was not to request the PCR judge rule upon an issue. Rather, Petitioner argued in his Rule 59(e) motion that the PCR judge should consider the affidavit and report prepared

by Dr. Martin from when he evaluated Petitioner three weeks after the close of evidence in this case. A Rule 59(e) motion is not intended to be used to introduce evidence for the first time. It is axiomatic that one cannot raise an issue for the first time in a post-trial motion. See South Carolina Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (“It is well settled that an issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”); State v. Hamilton, 333 S.C. 642, 648, 511 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding “it is improper to argue new matter in a motion for reconsideration”). As Dr. Martin’s affidavit and report were presented to the court for the first time in the Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion, the PCR judge did not err in denying said motion.

E.

Petitioner argues Dr. Martin’s affidavit and report were newly-discovered evidence that should have been considered by the PCR judge. As an initial matter, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. The aforementioned affidavit and report were attached to Petitioner’s “Motion to Reconsider, Open, Alter or Amend SCRCP 59(a), 59(e)” filed on August 11, 2011. Petitioner did not raise the issue of newly-discovered evidence in this motion. In fact, the issue of newly-discovered evidence was raised for the first time in the petition for writ of certiorari. As such, this issue is clearly not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Dr. Martin's affidavit and report do not constitute newly-discovered evidence. Petitioner's evaluation was performed on May 31, 2011 – which was 22 days after the PCR hearing was held and the record was closed. (Supp.App.pp.6-10). By the very definition, this was new evidence – not newly-discovered evidence. Regardless, even assuming arguendo this was newly-discovered evidence, it does not meet the newly-discovered evidence standard. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that, for an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief based on after-discovered evidence, he must show the alleged evidence:

(1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) Has been discovered since the trial; (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and, (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 611-12, 299 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1983) (citation omitted)

(emphasis added). Further, the Supreme Court has recent held

when a PCR applicant seeks relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence following a guilty plea, relief is appropriate only where the applicant presents evidence showing that (1) the newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea; and (2) the newly discovered evidence is of such a weight and quality that, under the facts and circumstances of that particular case, the “interest of justice” requires the applicant’s guilty plea to be vacated.

Jamison v. State, Op. No 27454, at *7 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 22, 2014). Assuming arguendo Dr. Martin's affidavit and report were newly-discovered evidence, Petitioner failed to demonstrate this purported evidence satisfies either the five-part Hayden test or the heightened criteria set forth in Jamison. Petitioner failed to demonstrate his is the “rare case” contemplated by the Jamison court where relief based on newly-discovered

evidence would be appropriate. Id.

F.

Accordingly, the PCR judge did not err in denying Petitioner's "Motion to Reconsider, Open, Alter or Amend SCRCP 59(a), 59(e)."

II. Petitioner has abandoned the issue of whether the PCR judge erred in granting a review of direct appeal issues pursuant to White v. State.

In the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Petitioner argued two issues – the second of which was whether the PCR judge was correct in granting a White review of Petitioner's guilty plea. (Cert. Pet., pp.10-11). This Court granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari by order dated June 25, 2014. This order, however, did not state certiorari was granted only to issue 1 in the petition for writ of certiorari. As such, certiorari was clearly granted as to both issues. The Brief of Petitioner, however, does not address issue 2. As Petitioner failed to address issue 2 in the Brief of Petitioner, the issue of whether the PCR judge was correct in granting a White review has been abandoned and this Court should not consider either it or the Brief of Appellant pursuant to White v. State that was filed on December 17, 2012. See, e.g., Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) ("An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.") (citations omitted).

Regardless, Petitioner cannot prevail upon this issue. In the order filed November 23, 2011, the PCR judge granted a review of direct appeal issues (from Petitioner's guilty plea hearing) pursuant to White v. State. (App.pp.132-33). This was error. While the

PCR application lists an allegation of “[n]ot advised of right to appeal,”⁵ no evidence related to this issue was presented at the PCR hearing.⁶ Petitioner did not testify at the hearing and plea counsel was not questioned by either party about the issue. The issue was never actually raised to the PCR judge and is, therefore, not properly before this Court. See Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (holding an issue is procedurally barred if it is not both raised to and ruled upon by the PCR judge) (citing Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983)). In fact, Petitioner affirmatively waived this issue at the outset of the hearing when his counsel stated “we wish to proceed solely on the psychological ground.” (App.p.44). Cf. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 646 S.E.2d 150 (Ct. App. 2007) (holding counsel’s stated lack of objection to introduction of evidence at trial amounted to a waiver of any issue defendant may have had with this evidence). As there was no probative evidence to support the PCR judge’s grant of a belated direct appeal, it must be reversed. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

III. The South Carolina Appellate Court Rules prohibit Respondent from addressing any other issues in this Second Brief.

In its Amended Brief of Petitioner, Petitioner addresses issues that were not raised in its Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Respondent submits the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules prohibit addressing issues not contained in the Petition for Writ of

⁵ App.p.29.

⁶ And the United States Supreme Court has held that plea counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal after a guilty plea only when there is reason to think either: (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal or (2) that this defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036 (2000).

Certiorari. Rule 243(j) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules states a petition for writ of certiorari in a PCR case “may be granted on any question presented.” (emphasis added). The additional issues addressed by Petitioner were not presented in the petition for writ of certiorari and were not granted by this Court. Petitioner also addresses the merits of an issue that, while raised in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, was abandoned in the Brief of Petitioner.⁷

The South Carolina Supreme Court has advised “the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules are not mere technicalities but provide the parties and this Court with an orderly mechanism through which to guide appeals in this State.” Henning v. Kaye, 307 S.C. 436, 437, 415 S.E.2d 794, 794 (1992). “South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the plain error rule.” Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice in South Carolina 65 (1999). Insofar as Petitioner has made arguments related to issues this Court proposed the parties address, Respondent cannot address these issues because it would impact the ability to raise issue preservation and procedural bars in both state and federal litigation related to Petitioner’s convictions and sentences. See Kennedy v. South Carolina Ret. Sys., 349 S.C. 531, 533, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001) (holding “appellants have the responsibility to identify errors on appeal, not the Court”); see also State v. Austin, 306 S.C. 9, 19, 409 S.E.2d 811, 817 (Ct. App. 1991) (“[A]ppellate courts, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.”).

⁷ See infra Issue II.

CONCLUSION


For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the PCR judge's ruling and deny the requested relief.